Master thesis

Can alignment in individual team ratings predict team performance? Measuring the correlation between the team variance of individual ratings of team performance and observed team performance.

Demi Spaander

Faculty of Behavioural, Management and Social Science, MSc Educational Science and Technology, University of Twente

First supervisor: Nick Goossen Second supervisor: dr. Sebastian M. Dennerlein

Keywords: Professional development, self-directed learning, team learning,

team performance, team alignment

Abstract

There is increasing criticism on students' preparedness for the workplace. Students need to develop professional skills to bridge the gap between formal education and their professional careers. The University of Twente developed a course for third year undergraduate students to improve their professional development through self-directed learning and teamwork. As part of this course, students completed weekly self-report questionnaires on items relating to team competencies, performance, and efficacy over the course of five weeks and received weekly team reports. To add to existing theory on shared mental models and its implications for team performance, this study aimed to discover the effects of team alignment on observed performance. Team alignment was determined by calculating the variance between team members' scores and compared to the team's project grade and individual course grade. This study showed a significant positive linear relation between team alignment on performance at the start of the project and observed team performance. There was a significant positive linear relation between efficacy and observed team performance at the end of the project. No significant results were found for team alignment in relation to individual performance. This study provides a new method for predicting team performance by measuring team alignment through variance. Further theoretical and practical implications are discussed, as well as directions for future research.

Keywords: Professional development, self-directed learning, team learning, team performance, team alignment

Table of Contents

Acknowledgement
1. Introduction
1.1 Background
2. Theoretical Framework
2.1 Team Learning
2.1.1 Conceptualisation of Team Learning9
2.2 Shared Mental Models10
2.2.1 Conceptualisation of Shared Mental Models11
2.3 Team performance
2.3.1 Conceptualisation of Perceived Team Performance13
2.4 Professional Development and Self-Directed Learning14
2.4.1 Conceptualisation of Self-Directed Learning16
2.5 Research questions
3. Methodology
3.1 Research design
3.2 Specification of variables
3.3 Participants and context 19
3.4 Instrumentation19
3.5 Procedure
3.6 Data analysis
4. Results
4.1 Descriptive statistics
4.2 Correlations and regressions
4.2.1 RQ 1: To what extent does the alignment (variance) of perceived team performance change over time?
4.2.2 RQ 2: To what extent does the change in alignment of perceived team performance over time predict team performance?
4.2.3 RQ 3: To what extent do initial and final team alignment predict team performance? 28
4.2.4 RQ 4: To what extent does the change in team alignment predict individual performance? 31
5. Discussion
5.1 Outcomes
5.2 Theoretical Implications
5.3 Practical Implications
5.4 Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research

The Effects of Team Alignment on Team Performance

6.	Conclusion	. 37
7.	References	. 39
8.	Appendices	. 48
	Appendix I: Questions from Van Rees (2020)	18
,	Appendix II: Questions in the TIIM app	. т О с1
	Appendix II. Questions III the Thin-app	. 51

Acknowledgement

Finally I can present to you my thesis. It was a long process, but a valuable and teachable one, and dare I say I did have fun in the process! Combining all of the lessons learned throughout the courses that I followed during the Masters programme Educational Science and Technology and further discovering that data analysis is not scary and can actually be a fun puzzle!

First and foremost, I would like to thank my first supervisor Nick Goossen. I am very grateful for how you guided me throughout the process of writing this thesis, giving valuable feedback and suggestions. Without your support I would not have been able to reach this level of quality in my thesis. I would also like to thank dr. Sebastian Dennerlein for the feedback towards the end of my writing process, making my line of arguing stronger and helping me elaborate on all of the different theories included in this thesis.

Finally, I would like to thank my family who have all been very supportive throughout this process, who deserve to be celebrated for their contributions to what I have achieved as a first generation university graduate. My parents, Liesbeth and Henk, for their unceasing support. My brother, Roy, for his encouragement and belief in me. My aunt and uncle, Ingrid and Johan, for bringing positivity towards every challenge. My grandparents, Herma and Siebrand, for inspiring me to choose a career in education. And lastly, but most importantly, my partner, Brian, for being there for me every single day, good or bad. Without these people I would not have been able to accomplish this.

And now I proudly present my thesis. I hope you enjoy reading it as much as I enjoy being able to share it with you!

1. Introduction

1.1 Background

There is an increased awareness that workplace learning and lifelong learning, both individually and as a team, are of great importance to the development of organisations (Jaldemark et al., 2022; Khousa et al., 2015; Neal & Martz, 2016; Shuffler et al., 2020). Employees are expected to stay up to date with the latest developments and newest technologies within the field, meaning that learning extends and continues beyond formal education. While formal education is aimed at preparing students for work life, this connection to the work field is not without hurdles, as there is an increasing amount of criticism on students' preparedness for the workplace (Okolie et al., 2019; Plotnikova & Strukov, 2019). Learning the theory does not mean that it is directly applicable in practice. Besides, learning does not stop after completing formal education, but continues at the workplace. Organizations recognize the importance of lifelong learning and often offer training and coaching programs to support the development of their employees (Roche, 2017; Tvenge & Martinsen, 2018). But the same issue applies here, what is learned in an outside-of-the-workplace training is not always directly transferrable to an on-the-workplace setting (Berge, 2008; Kitching, 2008).

To improve this preparedness for the workplace, there is a need for students to build up competence in self-directed professional development to increase self-responsibility as a professional at the workplace. Thus, next to the traditional curriculum, there should be attention for the professional development of students. Duncheny et al. (1997) define professional development as "... an ongoing process through which an individual derives a cohesive sense of professional identity by integrating the broad-based knowledge, skills, and attitudes [within psychology] with one's values and interests." (p. 89). When it comes to professional development, two main topics are recurrent in literature: lifelong learning and self-directed learning. In fact, many researchers treat these topics as interdependent (Aşkin Tekkol & Demirel, 2018; Greveson & Spencer, 2005; O'Shea, 2003; Patterson et al., 2002; Van Veldhuizen, 2011; Watkins, 1999). When it comes to lifelong learning, Aşkin Tekkol and Demirel (2018) discuss the importance of learning to learn and how the lifelong learning mindset helps individuals to make informed decisions about their learning needs. It is especially relevant for those who pursue self-development, both within and outside of the formal education context (Aspin & Chapman, 2001, as cited in Aşkin Tekkol & Demirel, 2018). Self-directed learning connects to that, as it highlights the need for the individual to take initiative in identifying these learning needs and planning how to acquire the necessary knowledge or skills (Knowles, 1975, as cited in O'Shea, 2003).

The development of self-directed learning through project-based and team-based learning is a widely discussed approach to stimulate the professional development of students, leading to the development of skills relevant to employability (Bagheri et al., 2013; Larson et al., 2020; Okolie et al.,

2019; Reid-Brown, 2017). It is imperative that students develop the professional skills needed to improve workplace preparedness, and, consequently, their employability (Fraser et al., 2019; Jaldemark et al., 2022; Neal & Martz, 2016; Okolie et al., 2019; Watkins, 1999). In literature, many theories are being discussed in support of learning on the job. For example, by learning through social interaction, both in formal and informal settings, for example in communities of practice, learning through observation or apprenticeship, and through organisational and team learning (e.g. Dennen & Burner, 2008; Edmondson, 1999; Khousa et al., 2015; Kostopoulos et al., 2013; Lave & Wenger, 1991; Smith, 2003), as it has been recognized that team-level skills are progressively important in today's workplace (Neal & Martz, 2016; Noe et al., 2014). Consequently, team-based projects are increasingly applied in tertiary education, which relates positively with the critical-thinking skills and performance of students (Carlson, 2016; Cheng et al., 2022; Opdecam et al., 2014; Snyder & Wiles, 2015; Snyder et al., 2016). Besides, Cheng et al. (2022) found that applying team learning in an undergraduate course decreased anxiety and helped regulate the cognitive load.

When discussing team learning, many references are made to the work of Senge (1990) on learning organisations. Senge (1990) proposes that there are 5 aspects which are of importance for the establishing of a learning organisation: (1) *personal mastery*, focusing on individual learning, and especially on the personal motivation to continuously work on professional development; (2) *mental models*, which includes how individuals view the world, bringing that to the surface, and letting others influence their views; (3) *building shared vision*, which is the generation of a shared view of future goals, values, and missions, which has the ability to bring people together by formulating a common identity and developing commitment to that identity; (4) *team learning*, in which the goal is that the collective knowledge exceeds the intelligence of individual team members, causing not only better results at the team level, but also elevated individual learning; (5) *systems thinking*, which is the realization that every aspect, change, or decision has an impact on the system, with organisations and even individuals being recognized as systems and, therefore, being part of a whole.

Whereas personal mastery (professional development and self-directed learning) and team learning are widely researched and applied theories, the presence of mental models and shared vision is more difficult to grasp. Research suggests that having a shared mental model increases team situational awareness and leads to higher team performance, especially in interdisciplinary or action teams performing in high-stress situations (Bolstad & Endsley, 1999; Cannon-Bowers et al., 1993; Lim & Klein, 2006; 1993; Salas et al., 1997; Santos et al., 2015). In current literature, shared mental models mostly relate to similarity of thinking and conformity in the structuring of knowledge (e.g. Bolstad & Endsley, 1999; Cannon-Bowers et al., 1993; Lim & Klein, 2006; 1993; Salas et al., 1993; Lim & Klein, 2006; 1993; Salas et al., 1997; Santos et al., 2015). However, as a reflection of shared mental models, this study seeks to use team alignment, related to the amount of agreement on the rating of team performance, for which literature is scarce.

The Effects of Team Alignment on Team Performance

While studies have been conducted on the similarities of individual mental models and their implications for shared mental models (e.g. Jonker et al., 2011a; Lim & Klein, 2006; Mathieu et al., 2000), there is still a gap in research when it comes to alignment of the individual team members' perceptions of team performance and its implications for observed team performance. Besides the potential effect of shared mental models on team performance, literature shows that high team performance often leads to improved individual learning, and, consequently, improved individual performance (Carboni & Ehrlich, 2013; Lin & Huang, 2020). Lee et al. (2021) make the link between team shared mental models and individual performance, and found that a high sharedness in the team shared mental model at the end of a project is a significant factor contributing to individual performance.

In the current study, students enrolled in a project-based learning course are followed using experience sampling to assess individual ratings of team performance over time. Students filled out a weekly questionnaire over the course of five weeks and received a weekly report on the teams' scores to use to benefit their team. This study aims to fill the gap in research by linking the alignment in individual ratings of team performance to observed team performance. Additionally, as the course is geared towards the professional development through self-directed learning of individuals in a team-based setting, the effect of team alignment on individual performance will be considered.

2. Theoretical Framework

2.1 Team Learning

The modern workplace engages increasingly in interdisciplinary projects, leading to work becoming more complicated and requiring more collaboration in the workplace (Shuffler et al., 2020). With that comes an increased focus on team-based projects, in which individuals with different backgrounds need to collaborate while organisations demand efficiency and quality (Delarue et al., 2003; Fapohunda, 2013; Sanyal & Hisam, 2018). In order to meet these new workplace demands, teams need to develop an effective working environment, in which communication skills and continuous development are essential. Theory on team learning provides insight in what is needed to build effective teams that foster knowledge-sharing, continuous development, and high performance (e.g. Koeslag-Kreunen et al., 2018; Puente-Palacios & Barouh, 2021; Van Woerkom & Croon, 2009).

When it comes to team learning, several definitions can be found in literature. Edmondson (1999) defines team learning as a process of reflection and adaptation within a team. Others add to that the creation of knowledge within that team through experience, the creation of a collective metacognition, and the importance of learning as a social process (e.g. Kayes et al., 2005; Knapp, 2010; McCarthy & Garavan, 2008; Van den Bossche et al., 2006). The current study defines team learning as the learning from and within a team through experience and social interaction, potentially developing a form of shared cognition.

With team learning becoming increasingly important for the workplace, there is a growing need for teamwork skills development in education to better prepare students for the workplace (Hart Research Associates, 2010; Hughes & Jones, 2011). This is also why team learning has been gaining popularity in undergraduate education. Collaborative learning combined with project-based learning are implemented into undergraduate courses more and more, and team learning has been found to have benefits for the professional development of students (Hart Research Associates, 2010; Hughes & Jones, 2011; Britton et al., 2017). For example, team learning has shown to improve the critical and creative thinking skills of students, as well as problem-solving and communication skills. It fosters collaboration and helps build relationships and knowledge through increased engagement in meaningful dialogue and debate (e.g. Janotha, 2015; Rezaee & Mosalanejad, 2015). Johnson & Johnson (1994) discuss how team learning has the potential to improve self-efficacy and motivation in individuals, leading to students taking ownership of their learning, therefore, contributing to self-directed learning. In conclusion, team learning is an invaluable strategy to help students be more successful in their studies as well as in their future work.

Besides the benefits for individual development, perhaps the most important aspect of team learning is the fact that teams can develop new skills collaboratively. When teams consist of the same

members for an extended period of time and have meetings regularly, they tend to develop a certain coordination in the way they learn and interact, even if an individual is a member of multiple teams (Flowers et al., 2000; Wageman et al., 2012). This development allows teams to not just access individual expertise but learn from the expertise of other team members, thus the individual expertise contributes to the learning and experience of the other team members, which is also referred to in literature as a transactive memory system (Kozlowski & Ilgen, 2006). This alignment in knowing who knows what closely relates to theory on shared mental models (Flowers et al., 2000; Kozlowski & Ilgen, 2006; Wageman et al., 2012). As stated by Kozlowski and Ilgen (2006) "... team mental models refer to knowledge structures or information held in common, whereas transactive memory refers to knowledge of information distribution within a team (i.e., knowledge of who knows what)." (p. 83). In fact, Kozlowski and Ilgen (2006) discuss how shared knowledge, team mental models and transactive memory structures can be treated as emergent states of team learning. Pinheiro et al. (2023) suggest that there are two sides to team learning "... one concerning learning behaviors that occur in members' interaction, through which they collectively identify, discuss, and solve problems to provide solutions. The other side, concerning the outcomes that emerge as a collective property of the team, such as the team's shared cognitions that are built through members' participation in team learning activities." (p. 3) (Decuyper et al., 2010, as cited in Pinheiro et al., 2023).

What must be noted is that, while previous research shows that team learning positively relates to team performance, Bunderson and Sutcliffe (2003) found that team learning has potential negative effects on short-term teams when there is too much focus on the learning and competence development. Savelsbergh et al. (2009) suggest that team learning has positive or negative effects based on what developmental stage the team is in.

2.1.1 Conceptualisation of Team Learning.

Underlying team learning is the ability of individuals to engage in teamwork. Widmann et al. (2016) state that team learning, and innovation are interdependent components of teamwork. This closely aligns with the current study, as students work on innovations in a team formation. As found by Widmann et al. (2016) the main behaviours leading to the team engaging in innovation development can be categorized in (1) *social interactions*, (2) *work design*, and (3) *visibility*. More practically, this means that (1) the team fosters social interaction through activities as information sharing, reflecting and implementing new and innovative ideas, (2) the environment in which the team works is structured, including clear tasks and having a climate of safety and trust, (3) the team needs to be properly organised and able to communicate and make their progress visible both internally and externally, for example towards a supervisor or client (Widmann et al., 2016).

Savelsbergh et al. (2009) identified five behavioural components of team learning; (1) exploring and co-construction, (2) reflecting, (3) discussing errors and unexpected outcomes of actions, (4) seeking feedback, and (5) experimenting within and as a team. These dimensions seem to be more focused on the social side of team learning. Making the connection to team performance, Wageman et al. (2005) determined five main contributors to team effectiveness based on Hackman (2002), as cited in Savelsbergh et al., 2009); (1) real team, meaning that there are clear boundaries to what it means to be a part of the team, there is an interdependence between team members, and there is a stability of membership, (2) compelling direction, there is a clear purpose or goal to work towards, (3) enabling structure, meaning that a team needs to have a clear task, a composition that aligns with this task, and clear rules about expected behaviour, (4) supportive organisational context, there is a need for a positive outcome when the team performs well, as well as the availability of resources and information to support the team fulfilling their task, (5) available expert coaching, in order to support team processes, for example when it comes to motivation or knowledge sharing (Savelsbergh et al., 2009). In fact, Savelsbergh et al. (2009) discuss how expert coaching may help team members to "... share their expertise to build the team's repertory of skills." (p. 7), which moderately relates to transactive memory systems and the theory on shared mental models. Connecting that to the previously discussed social interaction and other behavioural components as exploring and coconstruction contributing to the learning of the team as a whole, it becomes clear that the creation of a shared mental model is an integral part of team learning (Kozlowski & Ilgen, 2006; Savelsbergh et al., 2009; Widmann et al., 2016).

2.2 Shared Mental Models

Senge (1990) proposed that mental models and shared vision are essential components of organisational learning. Mental models are the basis of thinking and interaction of an individual with the environment, as it gives structure to a person's reasoning and worldviews (Norman, 1983; Johnson-Laird, 2005). Mental models are built upon knowledge and assumptions gathered through experience, but also form the basis for assumptions about new situations and continue to develop through new interactions (Gentner & Stevens, 1983; Norman, 1983). Thus, the mental model strongly influences behaviour and, with that, workplace skills such as decision-making, problem solving, and strategic thinking (Gentner & Stevens, 1983; Johnson-Laird, 2005).

With multiple mental models situated in a team, there is a need to establish a common ground, with certain rules about communication and team behaviour (Decuyper et al., 2010). It is theorized by Denzau and North (2000) that having similar mental models allows for better communication and knowledge exchange. This similarity in mental models within a team aligns with theory on shared mental models, which entails the team members having similar mental models when it comes to task orientation and team expectation (Cannon-Bowers et al., 1993, as cited in Jonker et al., 2011b). This

sharedness allows them to make decisions in accordance with the teams' needs, where sharedness relates to the compatibility of these mental models rather than them being identical (Cannon-Bowers et al., 1993, as cited in Jonker et al., 2011b). Converse et al. (1993) discuss how it is not always necessary for team members to agree with each other in the process of team decision making.

Van Den Bossche et al. (2011) proposed a model in which the most important team learning behaviours contributing to the creation of a shared mental model are *construction, co-construction,* and *constructive conflict,* which should then lead to an increased team-effectiveness. Here, construction and co-construction are focused on the active sharing of and listening to the views of different team-members and the refining of these views, which leads to a new and shared meaning for the team (Van den Bossche et al., 2011). After this process, constructive conflict may follow. This is the process of disagreement, due to different views (individual mental models), and negotiation in which the team works towards a shared meaning (shared mental model) (Van den Bossche et al., 2011). However, Guenter et al. (2016) state that task conflict may only benefit the team relationship when the initial perceived team performance is low. Van den Bossche et al. (2011) also found that the

development of a shared mental model through team learning behaviour led to a better team performance. This is in line with the findings of Mathieu et al. (2000) who found that shared mental models and task-based mental models relate positively to team process and performance.

2.2.1 Conceptualisation of Shared Mental Models.

Cannon-Bowers et al. (1993, as cited in Mathieu et al., 2000) explain that having a team shared mental model allows the individual to make decisions in accordance with the mental models of team members. In which the main categories of mental models relate to knowledge of technology or equipment, job or task procedures, team interactions, and team-specific knowledge, which can be summarized as (1) task-related knowledge and (2) team-related knowledge (Cannon-Bowers et al., 1993, as cited in Mathieu et al., 2000). This notion suggests that the team does not require similar mental models, but rather an understanding of the mental models of their team members. In literature several factors of shared mental models are discussed. Johnson et al. (2007) created an instrument focusing on the 5 emergent factors of shared mental models, these factors entail: (1) team knowledge, (2) general task and communication skills, (3) attitude towards teammates, (4) task dynamics and interactions, and (5) team resources and working environment. Again, it is possible to summarize these factors as posed by Mathieu et al. (2000), in task-related knowledge and team-related knowledge.

Research on measuring shared mental models mostly focuses on the alikeness of thought processes of team members, especially entailing interdisciplinary action teams performing under high pressure (e.g. Mathieu et al., 2000; Santos et al., 2015; Stout et al., 1996; Waller et al., 2004). For example, methods used for measuring team shared mental models include the elicitation method,

structure representation, and representation of emergence, with the method affecting the accuracy in which team process or team performance can be measured (DeChurch & Mesmer-Magnus, 2010; Gisick et al., 2018). Assessment techniques used include concept mapping, card sorting tasks, and questionnaires, including similarity ratings and rating scales (DeChurch & Mesmer-Magnus, 2010; Gisick et al., 2018). While not all measurement tools are able to predict team process, all methods of measurement allow prediction of team performance (DeChurch & Mesmer-Magnus, 2010). However, none of these methods include the individuals' perception of the team and what that means for team performance.

2.3 Team performance

When it comes to team performance, the review by Pavez et al. (2022) showed that in literature the most common measurements of team performance relate to the efficiency and effectiveness of the team. When connecting team performance to team learning, Offenbeek (2001) and DeCuyper et al. (2010) discuss team learning as a process in which both the learning of the team and improved team performance are the outcomes. Connecting team performance to team alignment, literature on the extent of agreement of individuals within a team when it comes to team performance encompasses several topics. There is research on team alignment, team cohesiveness, and factors which contribute to team performance, in which team alignment concerns the extent to which individual team members share success criteria and goals, also referred to as goal congruence (Griffith & Gibson, 2001; Schreuder et al., 2023; Williams & Castro, 2010). However, this does not exactly align with the current study, in which team alignment is defined as the extent to which individual team members agree about the performance of the team.

Williams and Castro (2010) describe that team cohesiveness "... requires members to feel bonded and reflects shared perceptions of trust, cooperation and unity it reflects the atmosphere within the team." (p. 130), thus characterizing cohesiveness as perceived team functioning, which aligns more closely with the intentions of the current study, focusing on perceived team performance. Guenter et al. (2016) discuss the importance of perceived team performance and its effects on the team members' self-confidence, team identification and the related team behaviour. Having a higher perception of team performance is theorized to lead to less team conflict, due to the members wanting to maintain high performance through preventing or resolving conflicts (Guenter et al., 2016). However, there is a risk that team members may sacrifice their individual goals in order to avoid conflict and maintain their team identity (Guenter et al., 2016).

Factors contributing to improved team performance include the effective sharing of information, for which openness is required, as well as individual agreeableness, moderated by design processes such as planning, cooperation, and creation (Mesmer-Magnus & DeChurch, 2009; Peeters et al., 2008, as cited in Bradley et al., 2013). Diedorff et al., (2011) emphasize the importance of goal

12

priority as a strong indicator of team performance. Michinov and Michinov (2020) discuss the influence of emotional intelligence and Gevers et al. (2019) add how perception of being on the same page when it comes to the teams' collaborative task, as well as temporal elements (the 'what' and 'when') improves the quality and timeliness of the product. In conclusion, a certain cognitive consensus is needed to achieve a quality product. Gully et al. (1995, as cited in Williams & Castro, 2010) describe how the interdependence of team members is of importance for team efficacy and team performance. Gully et al. (2002) found that increased interdependence positively affected team-efficacy and performance, however, this positive influence was less distinct in relation to personal performance.

Other factors affecting (perceived) team performance and time and, related to that, familiarity. Harrison et al. (2003) compared the performance of familiar teams, with members who previously worked together "... on a variety of activities" (p. 639), continuing teams, with members who did not previously work together but would work together for this study over the course of 3 weeks, and one-shot teams, who had not previously worked together and did not get the chance to develop familiarity over time. Harrison et al. (2003) found that familiar teams had an initial better speed, quality, and performance than both the continuing and one-shot teams, however, by week 3 the continuing teams managed to catch up with the familiar teams at least on the aspect of speed. While an overall positive relation between time-familiarity and quality and task performance was found, they did not specifically discuss the quality and task performance of the continuing teams, though an increase in both factors can be assumed based on the provided data (Harrison et al., 2003).

Going beyond team familiarity and developmental stages, Huang (2009) found that team cohesiveness has a significant positive effect on team performance. Thompson et al. (2015) found the same significant positive effect of team cohesiveness on a teams' test scores. Al-Rawi (2008) conducted a case study on the effects of team cohesiveness on several factors and found a positive relation between cohesiveness and attitude towards the organisation as well as towards value commitment. However, a negative effect on performance commitment was found (Al-Rawi, 2008).

2.3.1 Conceptualisation of Perceived Team Performance.

In the meta-analysis conducted by Beal et al. (2003) 3 components of team cohesiveness were identified, including (1) interpersonal attraction, which relates to the extent to which team members like the group, (2) task commitment, relating to the extent of the group's commitment towards achieving a shared goal, and (3) group pride, which entails the team members liking what the team stands for in terms of norms, as well as the significance of being a member of that team. Additionally, they found that an increased task-based interaction within the team led to a higher cohesiveness-related team performance (Beal et al., 2003). However, high team performance is not necessarily an outcome of team cohesiveness. Beal et al. (2003) discuss how a strong focus on individual performance

combined with pooled tasks may lead to a better team performance without there being strong cohesiveness, nonetheless, there is still a need for a shared commitment, or motivation, towards team performance.

Van Rees (2020) constructed a tool for the measurement of an individual professional identity through individual self-ratings during an intervention in technical student project teams. This questionnaire included individual self-rated items on several topics including *(1) subjective team performance,* consisting of questions relating to the teams' confidence, and *(2) team efficacy,* including questions relating to the teams' confidence (Appendix I). Other topics included in the study by Van Rees (2020) are *team inclusion, team membership self-esteem, team identification, team learning, and team leader support.*

However, it must be noted that individual characteristics may affect these self-ratings. For example, Harzer and Ruch (2014, as cited in Gander et al., 2020) discuss how character strengths such as perseverance, teamwork, and honesty relate directly to both self-rated performance and actual performance. Gander et al. (2020) found that teamwork and fairness were the two aspects contributing the strongest to self-rated team performance.

2.4 Professional Development and Self-Directed Learning

Senge (1990) discusses the importance of personal mastery for team learning. However, perhaps development is a better fitting term, as 'mastery' indicates that a final level of expertise can be reached. Lave and Wenger (1991) discuss this in their theory on legitimate peripheral participation in Communities of Practice, where in order for an individual to learn they need to develop themselves within a community or team, in which the mastery refers to the proper structuring of knowledge within the community. They state that learning is not a one person act and, even in a master-apprentice relationship, masters can keep developing themselves by taking the role as a colearner (Lave & Wenger, 1991). It has been established throughout literature that continuous learning, which describes the ongoing process of learning, thinking, and reflecting, is an important aspect of individual development, especially in more complicated, fast-developing, and interdisciplinary environments (Greveson & Spencer, 2005; Jain & Martindale, 2012; Razaee & Mosalanejad, 2015; Watkins, 1999). In which the individual development can take place both individually and in team settings.

Throughout literature, it has been recognized that team learning and individual professional are intertwined, with self-directed learning being a critical instigator for both. In fact, these theories are all related and interact with each other, with self-directed learning being viewed as a prerequisite for lifelong learning, which concerns the continued learning of an individual throughout their lifetime in any setting (formal and non-formal) (Eraut, 2000; Greveson & Spencer, 2005; Laal, 2011; Laal et al., 2014; O'Shea, 2003; Patterson et al., 2002; Van Veldhuizen, 2011; Watkins, 1999). Eraut (2000) explains learning as "… the process whereby knowledge is acquired." (p. 114), which can take place in *formal*

settings, which covers any structured learning setting in which conscious learning takes place, and *non-formal learning*, which is the implicit learning in which there is no clear intention to learn or in which there is no structured learning setting. Though Eraut (2000) discusses that non-formal learning can also be deliberative, through activities including decision-making, planning and problem-solving.

Taking deliberative action over ones learning can be connected to theory on self-directed learning. According to Knowles (1975) *"Self-directed learning describes a process in which individuals take the initiative, with or without the help of others, in diagnosing their learning needs, formulating learning goals, identifying human and material resources for learning, choosing and implementing appropriate learning strategies, and evaluating learning outcomes."* (p. 18, as cited in O'Shea, 2003). Important here is the emphasis on the initiative coming from the individual, as this is not something that is necessarily taught in formal education, where students follow a predetermined study plan and are often not included in the design of their curriculum (Jagersma, 2010). Therefore, it is regularly discussed that, while students acquire the necessary knowledge, the transition to the work field is often challenging due to a lack of certain qualities, in which individual decision-making and intrinsic motivation are essential (Fraser et al., 2019; Jaldemark et al., 2022; Neal & Martz, 2016; Okolie et al., 2019; Watkins, 1999). Both individual decision-making and intrinsic motivation have been identified as vital components of becoming a self-directed learner (Deci & Ryan, 2008; Lemmetty & Collin, 2020).

Central to self-directed learning is the intentional direction of the learning process, important aspects of include the recognizing of personal development needs as well as the ability to monitor and reflect on the learning process (O'Shea, 2003; Tabatabaei & Parsafar, 2012; van Woezik et al., 2019). Taking ownership of personal development has shown to improve critical thinking abilities as well as creative thinking and helps individuals identify opportunities for growth (O'Shea, 2003; Tabatabaei & Parsafar, 2012; van Woezik et al., 2019), thus being an essential part of professional development. Selfdirected learning does not only have implications for individual learning, as a positive interaction with team learning has been found throughout literature (e.g. Confessore & Kops, 1998; Hutasuhut et al., 2021; Senge, 1990). Van Woezik et al. (2021) underline the importance of self-directed learning in team settings, for example, they found that interpersonal contact within a team-setting stimulated selfdirected learning by encouraging critical thinking. Vithayaporn et al. (2021) further discuss how communication and the development of a shared vision contribute to self-directed learning in the workplace, aligning with Senge (1990) who views the formation of a shared vision as an important prerequisite of individual commitment towards the teams' goal, in which individual commitment should lead to intentional (self-directed) learning aligning with their goal (Masier, 2013).

2.4.1 Conceptualisation of Self-Directed Learning

While it is possible to assess the extent to which skills and knowledge have been developed, it is more difficult to assess the extent to which a person engages in self-directed learning (McGaghie & Menges, 1975; Robinson & Persky, 2020). McGaghie and Menges (1975) suggest the use of *goal-attainment-scaling*, which is an assessment method which takes the difference in goals between individuals or groups into account. Ayyildiz and Tarhan (2015) developed a self-directed learning skills scale to measure the self-directed learning skills of high school students. This scale is based on factors from the Self-Directed Learning Readiness Scale (SDLRS) as developed by Guglielmino et al. (1987, as cited in Ayyildiz & Tarhan, 2015) and the Self-Rating Scale of Self-Directed Learning developed by Williamson (2007, as cited in Ayyildiz & Tarhan, 2015). The main factors they identified as components of self-directed learning are (1) attitude towards learning, (2) learning responsibility, (3) motivation and self-confidence, (4) ability to plan learning, (5) ability to use learning opportunities, (6) ability to manage information, (7) ability to apply learning strategies, (8) assessment of learning process, (9) evaluation of learning success/results (Ayyildiz & Tarhan, 2015, p.673).

Kicken et al. (2009) defined three basic skills related to self-directed learning: (1) assessing quality of own performance, (2) formulating learning needs, and (3) selecting future learning tasks. These factors relate somewhat to the factors defined by Ayyildiz and Tarhan (2015). Dynan et al. (2008) discuss the higher order thinking skills that are necessary for self-directed learning: (1) application, which relates to being able to translate concepts to the real world, (2) analysis, relating to the ability to identify and explain underlying assumptions, (3) synthesis, which describes being able to construct (mental) models of theories and (4) evaluation, meaning that the individual can come to substantiated conclusions.

Combining these different defined factors contributing to self-directed learning, there appears to be a general agreement that self-directed learning requires the initiative from the individual when it comes to the goal setting, learning process, and evaluation of their own development. While the above components focus on the individual process, Van Woezik et al. (2021) clarify that team processes can benefit self-directed learning through stimulating individual responsibility, self-monitoring and critical thinking, in which emotions, openness and relatedness are important contributors.

2.5 Research questions

The specific definition of team alignment used in the current study has not been studied indepth yet. Other studies use the similarity of knowledge or thinking structures in the form of team shared mental models or team cohesiveness in the form of goal congruence (e.g. Mathieu et al., 2000; Griffith & Gibson, 2001; Waller et al., 2004; Williams & Castro, 2010; Santos et al., 2015; Schreuder et al., 2023). However, this study focuses on the alignment in perception of individual team members on components of team performance, in which alignment could form an interesting addition to theory on shared mental models. To add to current knowledge on team performance, it would be interesting to include the effects of individual ratings of team performance and, specifically, if the alignment between team members affects actual team performance. Since the current study is longitudinal and collects data over the course of five weeks, it is especially interesting to consider how the alignment within teams develops over time. Therefore, this study aims to answer the following research question: *To what extent does the alignment of individual ratings of team performance predict the observed team performance among 3rd year undergraduate students at the University of Twente in a course geared towards professional development through self-directed learning?*

To help answer this question, the following sub-questions have been formulated:

RQ 1: How does the alignment (variance) of perceived team performance change over time?

RQ 2: To what extent does the change in alignment of perceived team performance over time predict team performance?

RQ 3: To what extent do initial and final team alignment predict team performance?

RQ 4: To what extent does the change in team alignment predict individual performance?

3. Methodology

3.1 Research design

The current research design is a correlational study based at the University of Twente in a course focused on the professional development of 3rd year undergraduate students through self-directed learning. The students filled out a weekly self-report questionnaire over the course of 5 weeks, individually rating the performance of their team, on which they received a weekly report that they could use to benefit their teamwork. The outcomes of this questionnaire were used to give insight into the individual rating of team performance over time and allowed for quantitative research into team alignment represented by variance. This alignment was compared to the teams' project grade as well as the individual grades that the students received for their final exam. The alignment and grades were used to determine the correlation between team alignment and observed team performance, as well as individual performance. Also, comparisons were made between initial and final team alignment and its effect on observed team performance.

3.2 Specification of variables

The table below elaborates on the variables:

Table 1

Variable	Conceptualisation
Time (weeks)	Time is measured by the number of weeks that the teams work
	together on their project. Ranging from week 1 to week 5.
Team alignment (variance)	Team alignment is represented by the variance between
	individual ratings of team performance within a team at each
	measurement point across the five weeks. Higher variance
	suggests lower team alignment. Team alignment is divided into
	components adapted from a questionnaire produced by Van
	Rees (2020), namely (1) Competencies, (2) Performance, and (3)
	Efficacy.
Team performance (grade)	Teams received a grade on their project tackling a learning
	challenge within an organisation. This grade was used as an
	indication of team performance.
Individual performance (grade)	Students received an individual grade on the final exam of the
	course. This grade was used as an indication of individual
	performance.

Elaboration of variables

Figure 1

Tested interaction of variables



RQ 1 entails the relation between time and team alignment, aimed at discovering if team alignment changes over time. RQ 2 and RQ 3 consider the relation between team alignment and team performance, here the aim is to discover if team alignment can predict team performance and if higher initial team alignment results in a higher team performance. Lastly, RQ 4 focuses on the relation between team alignment and individual performance, aimed at discovering if higher team alignment alignment alignment and individual performance.

3.3 Participants and context

This study was conducted during a ten-week module among 3rd year undergraduate students at the University of Twente. It had 25 undergraduate students divided over 6 teams ranging from 2-5 students in size, with each team working on a learning challenge at one of five different organisations, ranging from education to healthcare institutions. Data collection started in week 3 of the module and lasted for a total of five weeks during which data was gathered weekly through a questionnaire. These students joined this course as an elective and 22 of these students consented to the anonymized processing of data stemming from the questionnaires for educational and research purposes. 3 students did not consent to the use of their data and are therefore excluded from this study.

3.4 Instrumentation

The team-based questionnaire of the professional development course was pre-constructed, prior to the current study, and based on the questions as posed by Van Rees (2020) (See Appendix I), who constructed team learning questions following the research conducted by Van den Bossche et al. (2011, as cited by Van Rees, 2020), Van Offenbeek (2001, as cited by Van Rees, 2020) and Edmonson (1999, as cited by Van Rees, 2020). The current study adapted questions from this tool into three general factors: (1) *Competencies*, mostly consisting of questions surrounding the collaborative performance on a list of competencies (2) *Performance*, consisting of questions relating to perceived performance and team processes, and (3) *Efficacy*, including questions relating to the teams'

confidence (Appendix I). The questionnaire used in the course includes 17 items on a 7-point Likertscale on team performance and team-confidence and one open-ended question (See Appendix II). The questions have been split up, relating to the different components of team performance as determined by Van Rees (2020), as is represented in Table 2.

Table 2

Components of Team Alignment and Sample Items

Components of Team Alignment	Sample Items
Competencies (5 items)	How would you rate your team's performance on client communication
	this week?
	How would you rate your team's performance on (collaborative) design
	this week?
Team performance (9 items)	How would you rate your team's performance on accomplishing project
	goals this week?
	How would you rate your team's performance on the quality of
	(accomplished) project work this week?
	How would you rate your team's performance on the quantity of
	(accomplished) work this week?
Team efficacy (3 items)	As a team, we have the confidence to perform well on the project.
	My project team believes it can achieve an excellent performance on
	the project.

3.5 Procedure

The students had already been informed and agreed to the gathering of their data for educational and research purposes upon entering the course at the University of Twente. There were no interventions from the researcher, meaning this is a non-experimental correlational study.

Students were asked to individually fill out a questionnaire at the end of every week for the duration of 5 weeks, starting in week 3 of the module, and was conducted using the Twente Intervention and Interaction Machine (TIIM) (see Appendix II) (University of Twente, 2024). The questionnaire contained 17 questions about three components relating to the performance of their team. At the start of each week the team received a report on the previous week's ratings of perceived team performance within their team to be used as feedback geared towards the improvement of the team. Students finalized the course with an individual exam and the group project, and they received a grade for each.

After the finalization of the course, the data from the team-based weekly questionnaire was analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics 28 and compared to observed team performance (the project grade), as well as individual performance (the individual grade).

3.6 Data analysis

The gathered data is of quantitative nature, specifically; the outcomes of the questionnaires in the form of ranked items using the 7-point Likert-scale, and final individual and team project grades on a scale of 1-10. First, descriptive analysis was conducted on the demographics, including frequencies,

percentages, means, and standard deviations. Afterwards, inferential analysis was conducted to answer the research questions.

To answer RQ1: 'How does the alignment (variance) of perceived team performance change over time?', it was necessary to first determine the team variance per week and per component. Because of missing values among participants, repeated measures ANOVA could not be used to determine the variance per team over time. This is because in repeated measures ANOVA a case is dropped if a single measurement is missing. A mixed-methods approach was considered as well as missing data imputation, however, due to the number of missing values these methods would increase the chance of interpretation errors. To include all measurement points in the calculation of variance, the sample variance was calculated by hand following the formula $\sigma^2 = \frac{\sum(X - \mu)^2}{n-1}$ for each team at every moment of measurement. These variance outcomes were also used for the remaining research questions.

For RQ2: 'To what extent does the change in alignment of perceived team performance over time predict team performance?', the variance in week 2 was compared to the variance in week 5 per component of team performance. The variance in week 1 could not be used as an indication for initial team alignment due to the number of missing values, which also applies to the remaining RQs. The difference score between variance of week 2 and 5 was used to determine the correlation between the change in variance and team performance, in which the change in variance on the three components was the independent variable and the project grade the dependent variable. Due to the low amount of data points, a normal distribution could not be assumed, this was confirmed by creating a scatterplot, therefore Spearman's Rho was applied (Spearman, 1987). Due to the difference score being negative at several of the measurement points and the data not being normally distributed, a Yeo-Johnson transformation was performed on the difference scores to subsequently perform a linear regression (Yeo & Johnson, 2000).

RQ 3: 'To what extent do initial and final team alignment predict team performance?'. To determine if there was a correlation between initial team alignment and the team performance Spearman's Rho was used comparing the variance in week 2 to the team's final project-grade (Spearman, 1987). Additionally, Spearman's Rho was performed comparing the variance in week 5 to the team's final project-grade (Spearman, 1987). For further analysis, a simple linear regression was performed. On the data in week 5 it was necessary to first perform the Yeo-Johnson transformation due to variance at one of the time-points being zero (Yeo & Johnson, 2000). After which a simple linear regression was performed.

RQ 4: 'To what extent does the change in team alignment predict individual performance?', the difference score between week 2 and week 5 was used and compared to the individual exam grade.

The difference score was used to determine the correlation between the change in variance and individual performance by applying Spearman's Rho (Spearman, 1987). Due to the difference score being negative at several of the measurement points and the data not being normally distributed, a Yeo-Johnson transformation was performed on the difference scores to perform a simple linear regression (Yeo & Johnson, 2000).

4. Results

This chapter discusses the results of the descriptive analysis to portray the response rates, means, and standard deviations on all components. Afterwards, data analysis was conducted to answer RQ1 through RQ4. Throughout the study, a significance level of 0.05 was used.

4.1 Descriptive statistics

Table 3 shows the response rates per week, ranging from a response rate of 36.36% in week 1 to 86.36% in week 5. At no moment was a response rate of 100% achieved. Due to the low response rate in week 1 (36.36%), this data point was not used to answer the research questions. Instead, week 2 (86.36%) was used as the starting data-point.

Table 3

Response rates per week

Week	Frequency	Percentage
1	8	36.36%
2	19	86.36%
3	19	86.36%
4	11	50.00%
5	19	86.36%
Total	76	69.09%

Table 4 shows the mean score and standard deviation each week per team and per component. Where the mean score falls on a 7-point Likert scale. The *N-value* shows the amount of respondents per team at each timepoint, which demonstrates that the questionnaire was not filled out by every team member at each of the timepoints.

Table 4

Self-report questionnaire outcomes

Week									Components									ı	
	-		Со	mpeten	cies					Perfor	mance					Effi	сасу		
	Team	1	2	3	4	5	6	1	2	3	4	5	6	1	2	3	4	5	6
1	Mean	5.6	4.5	4.6	5.4	6.2	-	6.3	5.3	5.6	5.9	6.3	-	6.0	5.8	5.0	6.0	6.3	-
	SD	0.8	0.4	0.8	-	-	-	0.2	0.6	0.5	-	-	-	1.4	1.2	0.0	-	-	-
	Ν	2	2	2	1	1	-	2	2	2	1	1	-	2	2	2	1	1	-
2	Mean	5.5	5.6	5.1	5.5	6.7	5.2	6.1	6.2	5.7	5.4	6.3	4.6	6.3	5.8	5.4	5.9	6.7	5.7
	SD	5.3	0.6	0.4	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.6	0.3	0.8	0.7	0.8	0.4	0.5	0.5
	Ν	4	5	3	3	2	2	4	5	3	3	2	2	4	5	3	3	2	2
3	Mean	6.1	5.7	6.0	6.1	6.7	5.4	6.4	6.3	6.1	6.0	6.6	5.4	6.3	6.2	5.7	5.8	6.9	5.5
	SD	0.8	0.6	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.6	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.5	0.2	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.7
	Ν	4	4	4	2	3	2	4	4	4	2	3	2	4	4	4	2	3	2
4	Mean	6.3	5.8	5.2	5.9	6.4	4.4	6.0	6.2	6.0	6.1	5.9	4.1	5.8	5.8	5.0	6.0	6.0	5.0
	SD	0.4	0.3	-	0.4	0.8	0.8	0.6	0.1	-	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.2	0.2	-	0.0	0.9	0.5
	Ν	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2	2
5	Mean	6.3	5.7	5.7	4.5	5.2	4.4	6.4	5.8	6.2	4.4	5.0	3.7	6.6	5.7	5.9	5.0	5.8	5.0
	SD	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.8	0.2	0.8	0.9	0.5	0.3	0.8	0.6	0.2	0.5	0.5	0.2	0.3	0.7	0.0
	Ν	3	4	3	3	4	2	3	4	3	3	4	2	3	4	3	3	4	2
Total	Mean	5.9	5.5	5.4	5.4	6.1	4.9	6.3	6.0	5.9	5.4	5.9	4.4	6.3	5.9	5.5	5.7	6.3	5.3
	SD	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.7	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.8	0.8	0.7	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.7	0.5
	Ν	15	17	13	11	12	8	15	17	13	11	12	8	15	17	13	11	12	8

4.2 Correlations and regressions

4.2.1 RQ 1: How does the alignment (variance) of perceived team performance change over time?

The results of the manual computation of variance are presented in Table 5. The change in variance over time is visualized in Figure 2, 3, and 4.

Table 5

Variance per team per component of perceived team performance

Team	Component			Variance per w	veek	
		Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5
1	Competencies	0.72	0.28	0.60	0.18	0.17
	Performance	0.05	0.16	0.34	0.39	0.76
	Efficacy	2.00	0.59	0.22	0.06	0.26
	N (=4)	2	4	4	2	3
2	Competencies	0.18	0.31	0.33	0.08	0.11
	Performance	0.40	0.14	0.06	0.01	0.22
	Efficacy	1.39	0.48	0.33	0.06	0.22
	N (=5)	2	5	4	2	4
3	Competencies	0.72	0.17	0.04	-	0.21
	Performance	0.22	0.16	0.12	-	0.10
	Efficacy	0.00	0.59	0.07	-	0.04
	N (=4)	2	3	4	1	3
4	Competencies	-	0.05	0.02	0.18	0.57
	Performance	-	0.15	0.03	0.06	0.67
	Efficacy	-	0.15	0.06	0.00	0.11
	N (=3)	1	3	2	2	3
5	Competencies	-	0.18	0.17	0.72	0.04
	Performance	-	0.40	0.30	0.15	0.35
	Efficacy	-	0.22	0.04	0.89	0.55
	N (=4)	1	2	3	2	4
6	Competencies	-	0.08	0.08	0.72	0.72
	Performance	-	0.10	0.06	0.30	0.06
	Efficacy	-	0.22	0.50	0.22	0.00
	N (=2)	0	2	2	2	2

The Effects of Team Alignment on Team Performance

Figure 2

Variance in self-rated team Competencies





Figure 3





Variance in Team Performance per Week per Team

Figure 4





Variance in Efficacy per Week per Team

As can be seen in Table 5, there was a significant amount of data points missing, as a result, for three of the teams there is no value at week 1 in Figures 2, 3, and 4. Consequently, for further data analysis it is necessary to use week 2 as a starting point. Figures 2, 3, and 4 show the change in variance over time per team across the three components. There are changes visible in variance over time for all three components, however, overall there does not appear to be a clear increase or decrease in variance over time as the effects per team differ substantially. For example, as can be seen in Figure 2, team 4 and 6 experienced a strong increase in variance over time on competencies, while teams 1, 2 and 5 showed a decrease in variance, albeit with a large spike in week 4 for team 5. Figure 3 shows that teams 1 and 4 had a considerable increase in variance over time, which means that the individual ratings of team performance differed increasingly over the period of 5 weeks. In Figure 4 team 5 shows a large spike in week 4, meaning that the individual ratings of efficacy differed substantially, however, the alignment improved in week 5. So, while it is clear that variance changes over time, the results per team differ to such an extent that at first glance no clear conclusion about the direction of that change can be made.

4.2.2 RQ 2: To what extent does the change in alignment of perceived team performance over time predict team performance?

To determine the change in alignment over time, the difference in variance was calculated between week 5 and week 2 (Variance week 5 – Variance week 2) and compared with the final project grade achieved by the team. As is portrayed in Table 6, a significant positive correlation was found between the change in variance of the competencies component and the final project grade, r(4) = [0.82], p = .046, which suggests that a decrease in alignment on competencies positively affects the project grade. The correlation between the change in variance of performance and the final project grade was not significant, r(4) = [-0.03], p = .954. And the correlation between change in variance of efficacy and the final project grade was also not significant r(4) = [-0.03], p = .954.

Table 6

		Competencies	Performance	Efficacy	Grade
Variance					
Component					
Competencies	Correlation	1.00	-0.26	-0.03	0.82*
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)	-	.623	.957	.046
	Ν	6	6	6	6
Performance	Correlation		1.00	0.14	-0.03
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)		-	.787	.954
	N		6	6	6
Efficacy	Correlation			1.00	-0.03
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)			-	.954
	N			6	6
Grade	Correlation				1.00
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)				-
	N				6

Spearman's Rho Correlation per Component and Project Grade

* Correlation is significant at the .05 level (2-tailed).

As the data was not normally distributed, it was necessary to transform the data. Due to the change in variance leading to negative scores, a regular log transformation could not be used, therefore, a Yeo-Johnson transformation was performed in R (Yeo & Johnson, 2000). Afterwards, a simple linear regression was conducted in SPSS to determine if any of the change of variance in the components significantly predicted the final project grade at the team level. Change of variance in competencies did not significantly predict the final project grade, $R^2 = 0.49$, F(1, 4) = 3.80, p = .123. Change of variance in performance did not significantly predict the final project the final project grade, $R^2 = 0.00$, F(1, 4) = 0.02, p = .900. And change of variance in efficacy also did not significantly predict the final project grade, $R^2 = 0.21$, F(1, 4) = 1.08, p = .357.

	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients			95,0% Con Interval	fidence for B
Model	В	Std.	Beta	t	Sig.	Lower	Upper
		Error				Bound	Bound
(Constant)	7.32	0.26		28.43	<.001	6.61	8.04
Competencies	0.55	0.28	0.70	1.95	.123	-0.23	1.33
(Constant)	7.32	0.36		20.41	<.001	6.33	8.32
Performance	0.05	0.39	0.07	0.13	.900	-1.04	1.14
(Constant)	7.32	0.32		22.95	<.001	6.44	8.21
Efficacy	-0.36	0.35	-0.46	-1.04	.357	-1.33	0.61

Table 7

Linear Regression on	Yeo-Johnson	Transformation	of	Change in	Variance
5		2	-		

4.2.3 RQ 3: To what extent do initial and final team alignment predict team performance?

To determine the effect of initial team alignment on team performance the variance in week 2 was compared with the final project grade achieved by the team. Due to the low amount of data points, a normal distribution could not be assumed. Therefore, Spearman's Rho was used to examine the correlations between the components: competencies, performance, and efficacy, in relation to the final project grade. As is portrayed in Table 8, the correlation between the variance in week 2 of the competencies component and the final project grade was not significant, r(4) = [-0.64], p = .173. The correlation between performance variance and the final project grade was significant, r(4) = [-0.82], p = .046, suggesting that high initial alignment on performance positively affects the project grade. And the correlation between efficacy variance and the final project grade was not significant r(4) = [-0.37], p = .471.

Table 8

		Competencies	Performance	Efficacy	Grade
Variance					
Component					
Competencies	Correlation	1.00	0.14	0.55	-0.64
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)	-	.787	.257	.173
	Ν	6	6	6	6
Performance	Correlation		1.00	0.29	-0.82*
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)		-	.577	.046
	Ν		6	6	6
Efficacy	Correlation			1.00	-0.37
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)			-	.471
	N			6	6
Grade	Correlation				1.00
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)				-
	N				6

Spearman's Rho Correlation per Component and Project Grade Variance Week 2

* Correlation is significant at the .05 level (2-tailed).

As the data was not normally distributed, it was necessary to perform a log transformation. Afterwards a simple linear regression was used to determine if any of the variance in components at week 2 significantly predicted the final project grade at the team level. Variance in competencies did not significantly predict the final project grade, $R^2 = 0.19$, F(1, 4) = 0.94, p = .388. Variance in performance did significantly predict the final project grade, $R^2 = 0.92$, F(1, 4) = 47.31, p = .002, with $\beta = -0.96$, which suggests that there is a positive linear relation between the alignment on performance at the start of the project and the project grade. Variance in efficacy did not significantly predict the final project grade. Variance in efficacy did not significantly predict the final project grade. Variance in efficacy did not significantly predict the final project grade. Variance in efficacy did not significantly predict the final project grade. Variance in efficacy did not significantly predict the final project grade. Variance in efficacy did not significantly predict the final project grade. Variance in efficacy did not significantly predict the final project grade, $R^2 = 0.00$, F(1, 4) = 0.01, p = .917.

Table 9

Linear Regression on Log(10)transformation of Variance in Week 2

	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coef			
Model	В	Std. Error	Beta		t	Sig.
(Constant)	6.39	1.02			6.26	.003
Competencies	-1.13	1.17		-0.44	-0.97	.388
(Constant)	4.37	0.44			9.93	<.001
Performance	-3.78	0.55		-0.96	-6.88	.002
(Constant)	7.24	0.82			8.81	<.001
Efficacy	-0.17	1.52		-0.06	-0.11	.917

Additionally, to determine the effect of final team alignment, the variance in week 5 was compared with the final project grade achieved by the team. Due to the low amount of data points, a

normal distribution could not be assumed. Therefore, Spearman's Rho was used to examine the correlations between the components: competencies, performance, and efficacy, and related to the final project grade. As is portrayed in Table 10, a significant positive correlation was found between the variance in the competencies component and the final project grade, r(4) = [0.94], p = .005, suggesting that a low final alignment on competencies positively affects the project grade. The correlation between performance variance and the final project grade was not significant, r(4) = [-0.33], p = .518. And the correlation between efficacy variance and the final project grade showed a significant negative correlation r(4) = [-0.82], p = .046, suggesting that a high final alignment on efficacy positively affects the project grade. Furthermore, a significant negative correlation was found between the variance in competencies and the variance in efficacy r(4) = [-0.89], p = .019.

Table 10

		Competencies	Performance	Efficacy	Grade
Variance					
Component					
Competencies	Correlation	1.00	-0.37	-0.89*	0.94*
-	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)	-	.468	.019	.005
	N	6	6	6	6
Performance	Correlation		1.00	0.71	-0.33
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)		-	.111	.518
	N		6	6	6
Efficacy	Correlation			1.00	-0.82*
-	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)			-	.046
	N			6	6
Grade	Correlation				1.00
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)				-
	Ν				6

Spearman's kno correlation per component and Project Grade variance we
--

* Correlation is significant at the .05 level (2-tailed).

Due to the variance of one of the teams being zero on the efficacy component a Yeo-Johnson transformation was performed, after which a simple linear regression was done to determine if any of the variance in components in week 5 significantly predicted the final project grade at the team level. Variance in competencies did significantly predict the final project grade, $R^2 = 0.75$, F(1, 4) = 11.80, p = .026, with $\beta = 0.86$, suggesting that there is a negative linear relation between alignment on competencies at the end of the project and the project grade. Variance in performance did not significantly predict the final project grade, $R^2 = 0.13$, F(1, 4) = 0.61, p = .477. Variance in efficacy did significantly predict the final project grade, $R^2 = 0.75$, F(1, 4) = -0.87, which

suggests that there is a positive linear relation between alignment on efficacy at the end of the project and the final project grade.

Table 11

	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients		
Model	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
(Constant)	7.32	0.18		40.47	<.001
Competencies	0.68	0.20	0.86	3.44	.026
(Constant)	7.32	0.34		21.87	<.001
Performance	-0.29	0.37	-0.37	-0.78	.477
(Constant)	7.32	0.18		40.73	<.001
Efficacy	-0.68	0.20	-0.87	-3.47	.026

Linear Regression on Yeo-Johnson Transformation of Variance in Week 5

4.2.4 RQ 4: To what extent does the change in team alignment predict individual performance?

To determine the effect of team alignment on individual performance, the difference in variance was calculated between week 5 and week 2 and compared with the individual course grade achieved by the individual student. Due to the low amount of data points, a normal distribution could not be assumed. Therefore, Spearman's Rho was used to examine the correlations between the components: competencies, performance, and efficacy, and related to the final individual course grade. As is portrayed in Table 12, no significant correlation was found between competencies variance and the individual grade, r(20) = [0.03], p = .894. The correlation between performance variance and the individual grade was not significant, r(20) = [-0.09], p = .685. And the correlation between efficacy variance and the individual grade was also not significant r(20) = [-0.35], p = .109.

Table 12

		Competencies	Performance	Efficacy	Grade
Variance					
Component					
Competencies	Correlation	1.00	-0.18	-0.10	0.03
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)	-	.418	.668	.894
	Ν	22	22	22	22
Performance	Correlation		1.00	0.10	-0.09
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)		-	.653	.685
	Ν		22	22	22
Efficacy	Correlation			1.00	-0.35
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)			-	.109
	Ν			22	22
Grade	Correlation				1.00
	Coefficient				
	Sig. (2-tailed)				-
	Ν				22

Spearman's Rho Correlation per Component and Individual Grade

As the data was not normally distributed and the change in variance led to negative scores, a Yeo-Johnson transformation was performed in R. Afterwards, a simple linear regression was conducted in SPSS to determine if any of the change in variance of the components significantly predicts the final course grade at the individual level. Variance in competencies did not significantly predict the individual course grade, $R^2 = 0.00$, F(1, 20) = 0.02, p = .886. Variance in performance did not significantly predict the individual course grade, $R^2 = 0.00$, F(1, 20) = 0.15, p = .787. A marginally significant effect of variance in efficacy on the individual course grade was found, $R^2 = 0.13$, F(1, 20) = 4.14, p = .055.

Table 13

Linear Regression on Yeo-Johnson Transformation of Change in Variance

	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients			
Model	В	Std. Error	Beta		t	Sig.
(Constant)	7.21	0.31			23.55	<.001
Competencies	0.05	0.31		0.03	0.15	.886
(Constant)	7.21	0.31			23.58	<.001
Performance	-0.09	0.31		-0.06	-0.27	.787
(Constant)	7.21	0.28			25.85	<.001
Efficacy	-0.58	0.29		-0.41	-2.03	.055

5. Discussion

This study aimed to discover whether team alignment, in the form of variance between individual self-ratings of team performance, can predict team performance and individual performance. Weekly questionnaires using a 7-point Likert-scale on the components competencies, team performance, and efficacy, were used for the data analysis, in which the variance per team was determined and used for further data analysis.

5.1 Outcomes

In answer to RQ 1 'How does the alignment (variance) of perceived team performance change over time?', it was found that there is a clear change over time in variance across the different components. However, at first glance this change did not show a clear direction. In several teams the variance on certain components increased over time, suggesting there is less alignment between the individual team-members, while on those same components the variance decreased for other teams. Linking this to the research by Van den Bossche et al. (2011), what may have occurred is that these teams were engaging in team learning but entered a phase of conflict. Van den Bossche et al. (2011) discuss how a phase of argument and disagreement is part of team learning behaviour, and while it was hypothesized that this leads to an increased shared mental model, their study initially found the opposite, which is congruent with the decreased alignment in the current study. Though, when going through this process of conflict in a constructive manner, this did eventually positively affect the team shared mental model. However, as the current study did not include factors proving the phases of team learning, that statement would require additional research.

Further analysis to answer RQ 2 'To what extent does the change in alignment of perceived team performance over time predict team performance' suggested that there is a strong positive association between the change of variance in competencies and the project-grade. This suggests that when the team alignment on team competencies decreases, the final project grade increases. However, the simple linear regression did not find any significant results. This may have occurred due to the low amount of data points, because of which no outliers were identified. Though, when assuming the outcome is correct, this suggests that the relation between these two variables may have a different nature than linear. Thus, there is a strong association between the change in variance of competencies and the project grade, however, decreased alignment on competencies does not directly predict a higher project grade.

To answer RQ3, when looking at initial team alignment, a negative linear relation was found between the variance in team performance and the project-grade. This suggests that higher initial team alignment on team performance leads to a higher project grade. This outcome aligns with the studies by Mesmer-Magnus and DeChurch (2009) and Peeters et al. (2008, as cited in Bradley et al., 2013), who discuss that individual agreeableness on several team performance processes contributes to team performance. Gevers et al. (2019) further describe the importance of team alignment on the teams' collaborative task, especially concerning the project planning. Altogether, this suggests that initial agreement on performance expectations positively affects the teams' performance.

A comparison between final team alignment, in week 5, and the project-grade showed a significant correlation between variance in competencies and efficacy and the project-grade. The simple linear regression suggests that the relation between variance in competencies and the project grade is positive, while the relation between variance in efficacy and the project grade is negative. This implies that alignment on competencies negatively affects team performance. Savelsbergh et al. (2009) discussed how team learning may have a negative effect at certain developmental stages of the team, suggesting that this negative effect of alignment on competencies may not be found as the team continues to work together. It was also found that the relation between variance in efficacy and the project-grade is negative. This implies that alignment on efficacy positively affects team performance. Gully et al. (2019) discuss how interdependence positively affects team-efficacy, and while the current study did not observe interdependence within the teams, it seems logical that the team interdependence is higher towards the end of the project. Therefore, it would make sense that alignment on efficacy increases towards the end of the project and will subsequently lead to better team performance. Altogether, it shows that alignment on team performance is more relevant at the start of the project, and the extent of alignment in efficacy is more relevant at the end of the project. At the same time, a strong focus on the development of competencies may negatively affect team performance.

Finally, for RQ4 a comparison was made between the change in variance over time and individual performance in the form of the exam grade. Here, no significant results were found, suggesting that the change in team alignment does not affect individual performance. However, the p-value of efficacy was marginally significant, suggesting that there is a tendency. Gully et al. (2002) discuss that while interdependence positively affects team performance, this effect is much less strong on individual performance, which would explain the p-value being close to significant. Concerning that there are no significant outcomes on individual performance, what may have occurred is that team performance was prioritized over individual learning, as suggested by Guenter et al. (2016), who stated that team members may sacrifice individual goals to avoid team conflict.

In summary, this study found reasons to support the notion that team alignment on components of perceived team performance does relate to observed team performance in the form of a team project grade, though different components are relevant at different timepoints. Initial alignment on team performance is important, which makes sense following several studies that prove that initial agreement on planning, task and other performance aspects leads to better team performance (Gevers et al., 2019; Mesmer-Magnus & DeChurch, 2009; Peeters et al., 2008, as cited in Bradley et al., 2013). At the end of the project, alignment on efficacy is of importance, which may be caused by the forming of interdependence within the team over time (Gully et al., 2019). Curiously, at the end of the project, alignment on competencies seemed to be negatively

related to team performance, which may either be caused by focusing too much on the development of competencies or may be influenced by the developmental stage that the team is at (Bunderson & Sutcliffe, 2003; Savelsbergh et al., 2009).

5.2 Theoretical Implications

Throughout literature, many suggestions are made that the extent of teamwork is related to the performance of the team. Senge (1990) specifically discusses the importance of a team mental model, which is a recurring topic in many other papers (e.g. Denzau & North, 2000; Decuyper et al., 2010; Cannon-Bowers et al., 1993, as cited in Jonker et al., 2011b). While research has been conducted on shared mental models and team cohesiveness (e.g. Mathieu et al., 2000; Griffith & Gibson, 2001; Waller et al., 2004; Williams & Castro, 2010; Santos et al., 2015; Schreuder et al., 2023), there is not much research into the importance of team alignment, with team alignment being defined as the extent to which individual team members agree about the performance of the team. Rather, research has been conducted on the effects of similarity of individuals (e.g. Mathieu et al., 2000; Lim & Klein, 2006; Jonker et al., 2011a), while research does suggest that similarity of individuals does not necessarily lead to better team performance, instead it is about understanding the teams' mental models and anticipating the teams' needs (Cannon-Bowers et al., 1993, as cited in Mathieu et al., 2000; Stout et al. 1996). It is for that reason that this study contributes something new to the meaning of team alignment and its connection to team performance.

Additionally, this study used variance as an indication of team alignment, with lower variance suggesting higher team alignment. Other research has used interrater agreement or the awarding of points to the completion of certain tasks to identify team cohesion or shared mental models (e.g. Mathieu et al., 2000; Griffith & Gibson, 2001; Waller et al., 2004; Williams & Castro, 2010; Schreuder et al., 2023). Though, in these studies, shared mental models and the definition used for team cohesion concern the alikeness of thinking within the team, which does not align with the use of team alignment in the current study. Shared mental models relate to the sharedness of knowledge within a team, in which team members think alike and are able to make decisions in accordance with the needs and behaviour of the team (Cannon-Bowers et al., 1993), the current study discusses the extent at which team members agree on different team performance components. This sense of agreement poses an interesting addition to the theory on shared mental models, as it can be argued that in order for an individual to make decisions in accordance with the team's needs, there must be alignment on how the team is performing.

Additionally, variance poses as an interesting new method of measuring the extent of agreement within a team, as it offers an approach that does not study the alikeness of mental models, but rather the alikeness of opinion. Variance is a relatively easy measure that allows for comparison between teams and over time, as well as a calculation of the difference score between different

timepoints. Therefore, this study presents a different method for the measurement of alignment, through the calculation of variance.

5.3 Practical Implications

This study has not only shown that agreeableness on team performance aspects between team members is an important factor for observed team performance. The results indicate that different components are of importance at different timepoints. One practical takeaway is that in this study alignment on perceived team performance at the start of the project positively affected the observed team performance. As suggested by Mesmer-Magnus and DeChurch (2009) and Peeters et al. (2008, as cited in Bradley et al., 2013), factors contributing to improved team performance include the effective sharing of information, for which openness is required, as well as individual agreeableness, moderated by design processes such as planning, cooperation, and creation. Additionally, Gully et al. (2002) found that increased interdependence positively affected team-efficacy and performance. Showing that it could be beneficial for teams to discuss their expectations and agree on what good performance looks like at the start of the project.

Additionally, high alignment on efficacy at the end of the project led to higher observed team performance, which may be caused by the forming of interdependence within the team over time (Gully et al., 2019). The questions relating to efficacy concerned the confidence and trust regarding the teams' performance, showing that the development of a sense of efficiency and trust in the teams' performance and the project is of importance to improve the final product developed by the team. This aligns with several studies who indicate the importance of an effective, supportive, and safe team environment for team learning and team performance (Mesmer-Magnus & DeChurch, 2009; Peeters et al., 2008, as cited in Bradley et al., 2013; Savelsbergh et al., 2009). Therefore, it could prove advantageous to invest in effective collaboration and trust within teams.

5.4 Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research

Although this study has significant results, several limitations must be highlighted. Firstly, the dataset was limited, both due to the low number of students partaking in the course as well as these students not filling out all of the weekly questionnaires, which made data analysis substantially more challenging. Additionally, it may be necessary to have the data collection during the project last for more than five weeks to limit the effects of short-term conflict within the teams. As suggested by Van Den Bossche et al. (2011), it is common for teams to go through a phase of constructive conflict when engaging in team learning and working towards a shared mental model. Additionally, all data is self-reported and no observational factors are included, such as the number of meetings a team has over the course of the project or the potential conflicts the team goes through, and these may influence the team members individual ratings. Furthermore, week 1 of the data was gathered at week 3 of the module, combining that with the fact that the current study was not able to use data from week 1 of

collection, only 4 weeks of data were used for data analysis, while a potential 8 or 9 weeks of data could have been gathered. This also means that students were somewhat familiar with each other before the first moment of measurement, which may have affected team formation and, with that, the team alignment at week 1 of measurement. What must be considered is that this study only included undergraduate students, which limits the usability of these conclusions for workplace settings. Furthermore, in correlational studies it is of importance to be aware of the effects of hidden and extraneous variables that may affect these outcomes.

For future research, it could prove to be interesting to connect the method used in the current study to methods from research into shared mental models. The current study has aimed to make connections to theory on shared mental models, however, while the measurement of team alignment and the use of variance add to research on team learning, the connection to shared mental models is not as distinct. It would be interesting to see if there is a correlation between team alignment and shared mental models, more specifically, if teams who improve their team alignment (decreased variance) also increase the alikeness of their mental models.

Additionally, this study has encountered the effects of team conflict on team alignment, where the theory by Van den Bossche (2011) on the creation of shared mental models through *construction, co-construction, and constructive* conflict poses as a logical explanation. Above, the lack of observational methods has already been mentioned as a shortcoming and it could be useful to include these. However, it could prove even more helpful to make the connection with other team development models, such as the *forming-storming-norming-performing* process as discussed by Tuckman (1965), and the extent to which teams encounter these phases during the project stage of the undergraduate course. Besides, this study mostly discusses team factors that affect team alignment and performance, however, discovering the effects of individual professional development, which the course was aimed at, such as self-efficacy and individual goal attainment throughout the course could provide valuable input on which factors influence team alignment.

Despite several limitations, this study has provided evidence for the relation between team alignment on perceived team performance and observed team performance and has applied variance as a measurement of team alignment. Both of which are links that have not directly been made in previous studies regarding team performance. Hopefully, this study stimulates further research into the implications of team alignment, represented by the agreement between individual team members, on performance aspects, specifically in team settings.

6. Conclusion

This study has discovered the correlation between the variance of individual ratings of team performance and its implications for observed team performance as well as individual performance.

Throughout literature, many suggestions are made that the extent of teamwork is related to the performance of the team. While research has been conducted on shared mental models and team cohesiveness (e.g. Mathieu et al., 2000; Griffith & Gibson, 2001; Waller et al., 2004; Williams & Castro, 2010; Santos et al., 2015; Schreuder et al., 2023), there is not much research into the importance of team alignment, with team alignment being defined as the extent to which individual team members agree about the performance of the team. It is for that reason that this study contributes something new to the meaning of team alignment and its connection to team performance, with perceived team performance being divided into three components: competencies, performance, and efficacy. This study found a significant linear relation between initial team alignment on team performance and observed team performance, as well as final team alignment on efficacy and observed team performance. A negative linear relation was found between final alignment on competencies and observed team performance. While more research into team alignment is necessary to form concrete practical suggestions, this study has shown that team alignment is an important factor for team performance and should be considered in future studies on team performance.

7. References

- Aşkin Tekkol, I., & Demirel, M. (2018) An Investigation of Self-Directed Learning Skills of Undergraduate Students. *Frontiers in Psychology 9*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02324
- Al-Rawi, K. (2008). Cohesiveness within teamwork: the relationship to performance effectiveness–case study. Education, Business and Society: Contemporary Middle Eastern Issues, 1(2), 92-106. https://doi.org/10.1108/17537980810890284
- Ayyildiz, Y., & Tarhan, L. (2015). Development of the self-directed learning skills scale. International Journal of Lifelong Education, 34(6), 663-679. https://doi.org/10.1080/02601370.2015.1091393
- Bagheri, M., Zah, W. Z. W., Abdullah, M. C. B., & Daud, S. M. (2013). Effects of Project-based Learning Strategy on Self-directed Learning Skills of Educational Technology Students. CONTEMPORARY EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGY, 2013, 4(1), 15-29. https://doi.org/10.30935/cedtech/6089
- Beal, D. J., Cohen, R. R., Burke, M. J., & McLendon, C. L. (2003). Cohesion and performance in groups: a metaanalytic clarification of construct relations. Journal of applied psychology, 88(6), 989. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.6.989
- Berge, Z. L. (2008). "Why it is so hard to evaluate training in the workplace". Industrial and Commercial Training, Vol. 40 No. 7, pp. 390-395. https://doi.org/10.1108/00197850810912270
- Britton, E., Simper, N., Leger, A., & Stephenson, J. (2017). Assessing teamwork in undergraduate education: a measurement tool to evaluate individual teamwork skills. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 42(3), 378-397. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1116497
- Bolstad, C. A., & Endsley, M. R. (1999, September). Shared mental models and shared displays: An empirical evaluation of team performance. *In proceedings of the human factors and ergonomics society annual meeting 43(3), 213-217. Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.* https://doi.org/10.1177/154193129904300318
- Bradley, B. H., Baur, J. E., Banford, C. G., & Postlethwaite, B. E. (2013). Team players and collective performance:
 How agreeableness affects team performance over time. Small Group Research, 44(6), 680-711.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496413507609
- Bunderson, J. S., & Sutcliffe, K. M. (2003). Management team learning orientation and business unit performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(3), 552-560. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.3.552
- Cacciattolo, K. (2015). A Critical Review of the Impact of workplace learning on Individual and Organisational Performance. University of Malta. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.2450.6082
- Cannon-Bowers, J. A., Salas, E., & Converse, S. (1993). Shared mental models in expert team decision making. *In N. J. Castellan, Jr. (Ed.), Individual and group decision making: Current issues, 221–246. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.*
- Carboni, I., & Ehrlich, K. (2013). The effect of relational and team characteristics on individual performance: A social network perspective. *Human Resource Management, 52(4), 511-535*. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21539

Carlson, K., Turvold Celotta, D., Curran, E., Marcus, M., & Loe, M. (2016). Assessing the Impact of a

Multi-Disciplinary Peer-Led-Team Learning Program on Undergraduate STEM Education. *Journal of University Teaching & Learning Practice*, *13(1)*. https://doi.org/10.53761/1.13.1.5

- Cheng, Y.-P., Shen, P.-D., Hung, M.-L., Tsai, C.-W., Lin, C.-H., & Hsu, L. C. (2022). Applying Online Content-Based
 Knowledge Awareness and Team Learning to Develop Students' Programming Skills, Reduce their
 Anxiety, and Regulate Cognitive Load in a Cloud Classroom. Universal Access in the Information Society, 21(2), 557-572. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-020-00789-6
- Confessore, S. J., & Kops, W. J. (1998). Self-directed learning and the learning organization: Examining the connection between the individual and the learning environment. Human resource development quarterly, 9(4), 365-375. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.3920090407
- Converse, S., Cannon-Bowers, J. A., & Salas, E. (1993). Shared mental models in expert team decision making. Individual and group decision making: Current issues, 221, 221-46.
- DeChurch, L. A., & Mesmer-Magnus, J. R. (2010). Measuring shared team mental models: A meta-analysis. *Group dynamics: Theory, research, and practice, 14(1),* 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017455
- Decuyper, S., Dochy, F., & Van den Bossche, P. (2010). Grasping the dynamic complexity of team learning: An integrative model for effective team learning in organisations. *Educational Research Review*, *5*(2), 111-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2010.02.002
- Delarue, A., Stijn, G., & Van Hootegem, G. (2003). Productivity outcomes of teamwork as an effect of team structure. In Documento presentado en el 7th International Workshop on Teamworking. Prato (Italia): Monash University Prato Centre.
- Dennen, V. P., & Burner, K. J. (2008). *The cognitive apprenticeship model in educational practice*. Handbook of research on educational communications and technology (3rd ed.) (pp. 425-439). Routledge.
- Denzau, A. T., & North, D. C. (2000). Shared mental models: ideologies and institutions. Kyklos, 47, 3-31. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6435.1994.tb02246.x
- Dierdorff, E. C., Bell, S. T., & Belohlav, J. A. (2011). The power of "we": Effects of psychological collectivism on team performance over time. *Journal of applied psychology*, *96(2)*, 247. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020929
- Ducheny, K., Alletzhauser, H. L., Crandell, D., & Schneider, T. R. (1997). Graduate student professional development. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 28(1), 87.
- Dynan, L., Cate, T., & Rhee, K. (2008). The impact of learning structure on students' readiness for self-directed learning. Journal of education for business, 84(2), 96-100. https://doi.org/10.3200/JOEB.84.2.96-100
- Edmondson, A. (1999). Psychological safety and learning behavior in work teams. Administrative science quarterly, 44(2), 350-383. https://doi.org/10.2307/2666999
- Eraut, M. (2000). Non-formal learning and tacit knowledge in professional work. British journal of educational psychology, 70(1), 113-136. https://doi.org/ 10.1348/000709900158001
- Fapohunda, T. M. (2013). Towards effective team building in the workplace. International journal of education and research, 1(4), 1-12.
- Flowers, N., Mertens, S. B., & Mulhall, P. F. (2000). What makes interdisciplinary teams effective? *Middle School Journal*, *31*(4), 53-56. https://doi.org/10.1080/00940771.2000.11494640

- Fraser, C., Duignan, G., Stewart, D., & Rodrigues, A., (2019). Overt and covert: Strategies for building employability skills of vocational education graduates. Journal of Teaching and Learning for Graduate Employability, 10(1), 157–172. https://doi.org/10.21153/jtlge2019vol10no1art782
- Gander, F., Gaitzsch, I., & Ruch, W. (2020). The relationships of team role-and character strengths-balance with individual and team-level satisfaction and performance. Frontiers in Psychology, 11, 566222. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.566222
- Gentner, D., & Stevens, A. L. (1983). *Mental models* (pp. 1-14). L. Erlbaum Associates.
- Gevers, J. M., Li, J., Rutte, C. G., & van Eerde, W. (2020). How dynamics in perceptual shared cognition and team potency predict team performance. Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology, 93(1), 134-157. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12287
- Gisick, L. M., Webster, K. L., Keebler, J. R., Lazzara, E. H., Fouquet, S., Fletcher, K., Fagerlund, A., Lew, V., & Chan,
 R. (2018). Measuring shared mental models in healthcare. Journal of Patient Safety and Risk
 Management, 23(5), 207-219. https://doi.org/10.1177/2516043518796442
- Greveson, G. C., & Spencer, J. A. (2005). Self-directed learning-the importance of concepts and contexts. Medical education, 39(4), 348-349. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2005.02115.x
- Griffith, A. F., & Gibson Jr, G. E. (2001). Alignment during preproject planning. Journal of Management in Engineering, 17(2), 69-76. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)0742-597X(2001)17:2(69)
- Guenter, H., van Emmerik, H., Schreurs, B., Kuypers, T., van Iterson, A., & Notelaers, G. (2016). When task conflict becomes personal: The impact of perceived team performance. Small group research, 47(5), 569-604. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496416667816
- Gully, S. M., Incalcaterra, K. A., Joshi, A., & Beaubien, J. M. (2002). A meta-analysis of team-efficacy, potency, and performance: Interdependence and level of analysis as moderators of observed relationships. Journal of Applied Psychology, 87(5), 819–832. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.5.819
- Harrison, D. A., Mohammed, S., McGrath, J. E., Florey, A. T., & Vanderstoep, S. W. (2003). Time matters in team performance: Effects of member familiarity, entrainment, and task discontinuity on speed and quality.
 Personnel Psychology, 56(3), 633-669. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2003.tb00753.x
- Hart Research Associates (2010). Raising the bar: Employers' views on college learning in the wake of the economic downturn. Washington, District of Columbia: Association of American Colleges and Universities. https://doi.org/10.1002/i
- Huang, C. C. (2009). Knowledge sharing and group cohesiveness on performance: An empirical study of technology R&D teams in Taiwan. Technovation, 29(11), 786-797.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2009.04.003
- Hughes, R. L., & Jones, S. K. (2011). Developing and assessing college student teamwork skills. New directions for institutional research, 2011(149), 53-64. https://doi.org/10.1002/ir.380
- Hutasuhut, I., Ahmad Zaidi Adruce, S. and Jonathan, V. (2021), "How a learning organization cultivates self-directed learning", Journal of Workplace Learning, Vol. 33 No. 5, pp. 334-347.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/JWL-05-2020-0074

Jagersma, J. (2010). Empowering Students as Active Participants in Curriculum Design and Implementation.

Online Submission. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED514196

- Jain, S., & Martindale, E. T. (2012). Facilitating continuous learning: A review of research and practice on individual learning capabilities and organizational learning environments. the Proceedings of Assocation for Educational Communication & Technology (AECT), 288-297.
- Jaldemark, J., Cleveland-Innes, M., Lindqvist, M. H., Mozelius, P. (2022). Lifelong learning and the transformation of higher education: A preliminary framework built on networked learning experts' perceptions. Conference: 13th International Conference on Networked Learning 2022. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/361745956_Lifelong_learning_and_the_transformation_of _higher_education_A_preliminary_framework_built_on_networked_learning_experts'_perceptions
- Janotha, B. (2015). *The effect of team-based learning on student self-directed learning* [Doctoral dissertation, Hofstra University]. Hofstra University.
- Jensen, P. E. (2005). A contextual theory of learning and the learning organization. Knowledge and Process Management, 12(1), 53-64. https://doi.org/10.1002/kpm.217
- Johnson, D. W., & Johnson, R. T. (1994). Learning together and Alone. Cooperative, Competitive, and Individualistic Learning. Fourth Edition.
- Johnson-Laird, P. N. (2005). Mental models and thought. The Cambridge handbook of thinking and reasoning, 185-208.
- Johnson, T. E., Lee, Y., Lee, M., O'Connor, D. L., Khalil, M. K., & Huang, X. (2007). Measuring sharedness of teamrelated knowledge: Design and validation of a shared mental model instrument. Human Resource Development International, 10(4), 437-454. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678860701723802
- Jonker, C. M., Van Riemsdijk, M. B., Van De Kieft, I. C., & Gini, M. (2011a, November). Towards measuring sharedness of team mental models by compositional means. In 2011 AAAI Fall Symposium Series.
- Jonker, C. M., Van Riemsdijk, M. B., & Vermeulen, B. (2011b). Shared mental models: A conceptual analysis. In Coordination, Organizations, Institutions, and Norms in Agent Systems VI: COIN 2010 International Workshops, COIN@ AAMAS 2010, Toronto, Canada, May 2010, COIN@ MALLOW 2010, Lyon, France, August 2010, Revised Selected Papers (pp. 132-151). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Kayes, A. B., Kayes, D. C., & Kolb, D. A. (2005). Experiential learning in teams. Simulation and Gaming, 36, 330-354. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046878105279012
- Khousa, E. A., Atif, Y., Masud, M. M. (2015). A social learning analytics approach to cognitive apprenticeship. Smart Learn. Environ. 2, 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40561-015-0021-z
- Kitching, J. (2008). Rethinking UK small employers' skills policies and the role of workplace learning.
 International Journal of Training and development, 12(2), 100-120. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2419.2008.00298.x
- Knapp, R. (2010). Collective (Team) Learning Process Models: A Conceptual Review. Human Resource Development Review, 9(3), 285–299. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484310371449

- Knowles, M.S. (1975) Self-Directed Learning: A Guide for Learners and Teachers. Follett Publishing, Chicago, IL. https://doi.org/10.1177/105960117700200220
- Koeslag-Kreunen, M., Van den Bossche, P., Hoven, M., Van der Klink, M., & Gijselaers, W. (2018). When Leadership Powers Team Learning: A Meta-Analysis. Small Group Research, 49(4), 475–513. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496418764824
- Kostopoulos, K. C., Spanos, Y. E., & Prastacos, G. P. (2013). Structure and function of team learning emergence: A multilevel empirical validation. Journal of Management, 39(6), 1430-1461. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206311419366
- Kozlowski, S. W., & Ilgen, D. R. (2006). Enhancing the effectiveness of work groups and teams. Psychological science in the public interest, 7(3), 77-124.
- Laal, M., Laal, A., & Aliramaei, A. (2014). Continuing education; lifelong learning. Procedia-social and behavioral sciences, 116, 4052-4056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.889
- Laal, M. (2011). Lifelong learning: What does it mean? Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 28, 470-474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.11.090
- Larson, J., Jordan, S. S., Lande, M., & Weiner, S. (2020). Supporting self-directed learning in a project-based embedded systems design course. IEEE Transactions on Education, 63(2), 88-97. https://doi.org/10.1109/TE.2020.2975358
- Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). *Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation*. Cambridge university press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511815355
- Lee, M., Johnson, T., & Jin, M. H. (2012). Toward understanding the dynamic relationship between team and task shared mental models as determinants of team and individual performances. International journal of information technology and business management, 8(1), 1-14.
- Lemmetty, S., & Collin, K. (2020). Self-direction. In V. P. Glăveanu (Ed.), The Palgrave Encyclopedia of the Possible. Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-98390-5_147-1
- Lim, B. C., & Klein, K. J. (2006). Team mental models and team performance: A field study of the effects of team mental model similarity and accuracy. Journal of Organizational Behavior: The International Journal of Industrial, Occupational and Organizational Psychology and Behavior, 27(4), 403-418. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.387
- Masier, D. J. (2013). An exploratory study of the relationship between self-directed learning and Senge's five disciplines necessary to become a learning organization: in a high-tech company. North Carolina State University.
- Mathieu, J. E., Heffner, T. S., Goodwin, G. F., Salas, E., & Cannon-Bowers, J. A. (2000). *The influence of shared mental models on team process and performance*. Journal of Applied Psychology, 85(2), 273–283. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.85.2.273
- McCarthy, A., & Garavan, T. N. (2008). Team learning and metacognition: A neglected area of HRD research and practice. Advances in Developing Human Resources, 19, 509-524. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422308320496

McGaghie, W. C., & Menges, R. J. (1975). Assessing Self-Directed Learning. Teaching of Psychology, 2(2), 56–59.

https://doi.org/10.1207/s15328023top0202_2

- Mesmer-Magnus, J. R., & DeChurch, L. A. (2009). Information sharing and team performance: a meta-analysis. *Journal of applied psychology*, *94*(2), 535-546. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013773
- Michinov, E., & Michinov, N. (2022). When emotional intelligence predicts team performance: Further validation of the short version of the Workgroup Emotional Intelligence Profile. *Current Psychology*, 41(3), 1323-1336. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-020-00659-7
- Neal, B., & Martz, B. (2016). Foundations for a Team Oriented Curriculum. Journal of Learning in higher Education, 12(2), 45-53. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1139808
- Noe, R. A., Clarke, A. D., & Klein, H. J. (2014). Learning in the twenty-first-century workplace. Annual review of organizational psychology and organizational behavior, 1(1), 245-275. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-031413-091321
- Okolie, U. C., Nwosu, H. E., & Mlanga, S. (2019). Graduate employability: How the higher education institutions can meet the demand of the labour market. Higher education, skills and work-based learning, Vol. 9
 No. 4, pp. 620-636. https://doi.org/10.1108/HESWBL-09-2018-0089
- Opdecam, E., Everaert, P., Van Keer, H., & Buysschaert, F. (2014). Preferences for team learning and lecturebased learning among first-year undergraduate accounting students. *Research in Higher Education, 55,* 400-432. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-013-9315-6
- O'Shea, E. (2003). Self-directed learning in nurse education: a review of the literature. Journal of advanced nursing, 43(1), 62-70. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02673.x
- Patterson, C., Crooks, D., & Lunyk-Child, O. (2002). A new perspective on competencies for self-directed learning. Journal of nursing education, 41(1), 25-31. https://doi.org/10.3928/0148-4834-20020101-06
- Pavez, I., Gómez, H., Liu, C., & González, V. A. (2022). Measuring project team performance: A review and conceptualization. International journal of project management, 40(8), 951-971. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2022.11.001
- Pinheiro, M., Rebelo, T., Lourenço, P.R. and Dimas, I. (2023), "What drives team learning: core conditions and paths", Journal of Workplace Learning, Vol. ahead-of-print No. ahead-of-print. https://doi.org/10.1108/JWL-06-2022-0079
- Plotnikova, N. F. & Strukov, E. N. (2019). Integration of teamwork and critical thinking skills in the process of teaching students. Cypriot Journal of Educational Sciences. 14(1), 001–010. https://doi.org/10.18844/cjes.v14i1.4031
- Raes, E., Boon, A., Kyndt, E., & Dochy, F. (2015). Measuring team learning behaviours through observing verbal team interaction. Journal of Workplace Learning, 27(7), 476-500. https://doi.org/10.1108/JWL-01-2015-0006
- Robinson, J. D., & Persky, A. M. (2020). Developing self-directed learners. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 84(3). https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe847512
- Reid-Brown, C. A. L. (2017). "Project-Based Learning: Investigating Self-Directed Learning Readiness Skills And Content Knowledge Retention In An Urban Jamaican High School Eighth Grade Integrated Science Cohort". FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations. 3388. https://doi.org/ 10.25148/etd.FIDC001950

- Rezaee, R., & Mosalanejad, L. (2015). The effects of case-based team learning on students' learning, self regulation and self direction. Global journal of health science, 7(4), 295. https://doi.org/10.5539/gjhs.v7n4p295
- Roche, S. (2017). Learning for life, for work, and for its own sake: The value (and values) of lifelong learning. International Review of Education, 63, 623-629. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11159-017-9666-x
- Salas, E., Cannon-Bowers, J. A., & Johnston, J. H. (1997). How can you turn a team of experts into an expert team?: Emerging training strategies. *Naturalistic decision making*, *1*, 359-370. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Santos, C. M., Uitdewilligen, S., & Passos, A. M. (2015). Why is your team more creative than mine? The influence of shared mental models on intra-group conflict, team creativity and effectiveness. *Creativity and innovation management*, *24*(*4*), *645-658*. https://doi.org/10.1111/caim.12129
- Sanyal, S., & Hisam, M. W. (2018). The impact of teamwork on work performance of employees: A study of faculty members in Dhofar University. IOSR Journal of Business and Management, 20(3), 15-22. https://doi.org/10.9790/487X-2003011522
- Savelsbergh, C. M., van der Heijden, B. I., & Poell, R. F. (2009). The development and empirical validation of a multidimensional measurement instrument for team learning behaviors. Small Group Research, 40(5), 578-607. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496409340055
- Schreuder, F., Schalk, R. J. D., & Batistič, S. (2023). Goal congruence in teams and performance: The role of (shared) psychological contract fulfilment. Journal of Management and Organization. https://doi.org/10.1017/jmo.2019.52
- Senge, P. (1990). *The Fifth Discipline: The art and practice of the learning organization.* New York: Doubleday/Currency.
- Shuffler, M. L., Salas, E., & Rosen, M. A. (2020). The evolution and maturation of teams in organizations: Convergent trends in the new dynamic science of teams. Frontiers in Psychology, 11, 2128. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.02128
- Smith, M. K. (2003). 'Communities of practice'. The encyclopedia of informal education. www.infed.org/biblio/communities_of_practice.htm
- Snyder, J. J., Sloane, J. D., Dunk, R. D., & Wiles, J. R. (2016). Peer-led team learning helps minority students succeed. *PLoS biology*, *14(3)*, *e1002398*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002398
- Snyder, J. J., Wiles, J. R. (2015). Peer Led Team Learning in Introductory Biology: Effects on Peer Leader Critical Thinking Skills. *PLoS ONE 10(1), e0115084.* https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115084
- Spearman, C. (1987). The proof and measurement of association between two things. The American journal of psychology, 100(3/4), 441-471. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1422689
- Stout, R. J., Cannon-Bowers, J. A., & Salas, E. (1996). The role of shared mental models in developing team situational awareness: Implications for training. Training Research Journal, 2, 85-116
- Tabatabaei, O., & Parsafar, S. M. (2012). The effect of self-directed learning on critical thinking of Iranian EFL learners. Journal of educational and social research, 2(2), 55-55. https://doi.org/10.5901/jesr.2012.v2n2.55

- Tuckman, B. W. (1965). Developmental sequence in small groups. Psychological Bulletin, 63(6), 384–399. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0022100
- Tvenge, N., & Martinsen, K. (2018). Integration of digital learning in industry 4.0. Procedia manufacturing, 23, 261-266. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.promfg.2018.04.027
- University of Twente (2023, February 2). THE BMS LAB TWENTE INTERVENTION AND INTERACTION MACHINE (TIIM). https://www.utwente.nl/en/bmslab/infohub/tiim/
- Van den Bossche, P., Gijselaers, W., Segers, M., Woltjer, G., & Kirschner, P. (2011). Team learning: building shared mental models. Instr Sci 39, 283–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-010-9128-3
- Van den Bossche, B., Gijselaers, W. H., Segers, M., & Kirschner, P. A. (2006). Social and cognitive factors driving teamwork in collaborative learning environments: Team learning, beliefs, and behaviors. Small Group Research, 37, 490-521. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496406292938
- Van Offenbeek, M. (2001). Processes and outcomes of team learning. European journal of work and organizational psychology, 10(3), 303-317. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13594320143000690
- Van Rees, M. (2020). A professional identity intervention to take advantage from the diversity within technical student project teams [Master's thesis, University of Twente]. https://purl.utwente.nl/essays/83056
- Van Veldhuizen, G. G. (2011). Werkend leren, lerend werken. Utrecht University Repository (Dissertation) (pp. 351-359). https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/202171
- Van Woerkom, M. and Croon, M. (2009), "The relationships between team learning activities and team performance", Personnel Review, Vol. 38 No. 5, pp. 560-577. https://doi.org/10.1108/00483480910978054
- Van Woezik, T., Reuzel, R., & Koksma, J. (2019). Exploring Open Space: A self-directed learning approach for higher education. Cogent Education, 6(1), 1615766. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2019.1615766
- Van Woezik, T. E., Koksma, J. J. J., Reuzel, R. P., Jaarsma, D. C., & van der Wilt, G. J. (2021). *There is more than (1' in self-directed learning: an exploration of self-directed learning in teams of undergraduate students.* Medical Teacher, 43(5), 590-598. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2021.1885637
- Vithayaporn, S., Yong, S. S., & Chai, E. G. (2021). The Integration of Self-directed Learning and Employee Competency in the 21st Century. Asian Journal of Business Research Volume, 11(2). https://doi.org/10.14707/ajbr.210106
- Wageman, R., Gardner, H., & Mortensen, M. (2012). The changing ecology of teams: New directions for teams research. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *33*(3), 301-315. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.1775
- Wageman, R., Hackman, J. R., & Lehman, E. (2005). Team diagnostic survey: Development of an instrument. The journal of applied behavioral science, 41(4), 373-398. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886305281984
- Waller, M. J., Gupta, N., & Giambatista, R. C. (2004). Effects of adaptive behaviors and shared mental models on control crew performance. Management Science, 50(11), 1534-1544. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.1040.0210
- Wang, C.L. and Ahmed, P.K. (2003), "Organisational learning: a critical review", The Learning Organization, Vol. 10 No. 1, pp. 8-17. https://doi.org/10.1108/09696470310457469
- Watkins, J. (1999). UK professional associations and continuing professional development: a new direction?

International Journal of Lifelong Education, 18(1), 61-75. https://doi.org/10.1080/026013799293955

- Widmann, A., Messmann, G., & Mulder, R. H. (2016). The impact of team learning behaviors on team innovative work behavior: A systematic review. Human Resource Development Review, 15(4), 429-458. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484316673713
- Williams, E. A., & Castro, S. L. (2010). The effects of teamwork on individual learning and perceptions of team performance: A comparison of face-to-face and online project settings. Team Performance
 Management: An International Journal, 16(3/4), 124-147.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/13527591011053232
- Yeo, I. K., & Johnson, R. A. (2000). A new family of power transformations to improve normality or symmetry. Biometrika, 87(4), 954-959. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2673623

8. Appendices

Appendix I: Questions from Van Rees (2020).

Q7 Now that you have been working together in your project team for the past 4 days, we are **curious** to learn more about the collaborative process. *Please indicate to what extent you agree with the following statements about your project team:*

	Strongly disagree (1)	Somewhat disagree (2)	Neither agree nor disagree (3)	Somewhat agree (4)	Strongly agree (5)
We regularly take time to figure out ways to improve our team's work processes. (1)	0	0	0	0	0
In this team, we share all relevant information and ideas we have. (2)	0	0	0	0	0
Members of this team ask each other for help and advice during the project work. (3)	0	0	0	0	0
If something is unclear, we ask each other questions. (4)	0	0	0	0	0
In this team, we make sure that we reflect on the team's work process regularly. (5)	0	0	0	0	0
In this team we ask critical questions when someone tells something new. (8)	0	0	0	0	0
In a discussion, our team views a topic from different angles and we share that with each other. (9)	0	0	0	0	0
When a team member has a different opinion during a discussion, he or she feels comfortable to voice this opinion. (11)	0	0	0	0	0
The team frequently seeks new information to make important improvements to our project. (12)	0	0	0	0	0
Team members go out and get all the information they possibly can from others, such as the	0	0	0	0	0

	Strongly disagree (1)	Somewhat disagree (2)	Neither agree nor disagree (3)	Somewhat agree (4)	Strongly agree (5)
As a team, we have the confidence to perform well on the project. (1)	0	0	0	0	0
My project team believes it can achieve an excellent performance on the project. (2)	0	0	0	0	0
Achieving this team's goals is well within our reach. (3)	0	0	0	0	\circ
With focus and effort, this team can do anything we set out to accomplish. (4)	0	0	0	0	0

Q8 To what extent do you agree with the following statements about your team?

Q11 In your opinion how well does your project **team perform**? Please grade your project team's performance on...

The Effects of Team Alignment on Team Performance

	Terrible (7)	Poor (8)	Average (9)	Good (10)	Excellent (11)
accomplishing project goals (1)	0	0	0	0	0
the quality of the project work (2)	0	0	0	0	0
the quantity of the project work (3)	0	0	0	0	0
the efficiency in collaborating (4)	0	0	0	0	0
the overall performance level (5)	0	0	0	0	0
the atmosphere in the team (6)	0	0	0	0	0
the level of trust in the team (7)	0	0	0	0	0
resolving disagreements (8)	0	0	0	0	0
the effectiveness of communication (9)	0	0	0	0	0

ltem	Content
Q1	Hi there, great to see you! Let's take a look at the past week.
	[Continue]
Q2	You chose to focus on your professional development in [domain]. How would you rate your competence after this week?
R(1-100)	[1-100] [Novice - Master]
	Okay, enough about you. Let's reflect on the team for a bit.
	The next items will ask about your rating of the team's performance on several aspects. Try to keep in mind that you are
Q3	rating the team as a whole.
	[Let's go!]
Q4	How would you rate your team's performance on client communication this week?
Q5	How would you rate your team's performance on (collaborative) design this week?
Q6	How would you rate your team's performance on interprofessional collaboration this week?
Q7	How would you rate your team's performance on evidence-based working this week?
Q8	How would you rate your team's performance on critical thinking this week?
	Nice job! First ratings done.
Q9	Next up are some ratings related to teamwork and the project during the past week.
Q10	How would you rate your team's performance on accomplishing project goals this week?
Q11	How would you rate your team's performance on the quality of (accomplished) project work this week?
Q12	How would you rate your team's performance on the quantity of (accomplished) project work this week?
Q13	How would you rate your team's performance on the efficiency in collaborating this week?
Q14	How would you rate your team's overall performance level this week?
Q15	How would you rate the atmosphere in the team this week?
Q16	How would you rate the level of trust in the team this week?
Q17	How would you rate your team's performance on resolving disagreements this week?
Q18	How would you rate your team's performance on the effectiveness of communication this week?
	Almost done!
	There's just a last couple of statements for you to fill in.
010	
Q19	Please indicate to what extent you agree with the following statements.
Q20	As a team, we have the confidence to perform well on the project
Q21	Achieving this team believes it can achieve an excellent performance on the project
Q22	אנוויביוויג נוווג נפמוו ג געמוג וג שפון שונוווו טער ופמנוו
023	Anything else about the team performance that you want to pote?
TB	[Tevt innut]
	[Text input]
	That was it, great work!
024	Your report will come in a bit. See you on Monday!